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SUMMARY DESCRIPTICN

The Folly Castie Historic District as extended comprises approximately five blocks of a
residential neighborhood on the west side of downtown Petersburg with a portion of West
Washingron Street at its center. There are seventy-three residences and contributing
outbuildings in the expanded district and four non-residential buildings. The latter are:
First Baptist and Second Presbyterian churches, the now-abandoned Petersburg LI-E?h
School (all of which front West Washington Street), and an abandoned store on Lafayette
Street next to Brick House Run. Also included within the historic district are landscape
features such as woodex and iron fences, tiled waiks, and granite curbs. An elaborate cast-
iron tence (a contribuiing object in the district) is located at the southeast corner of
Hinton and Davis streets, a lone reminder of the grand Greek Revival mansion, known as
the Dunlop House, that once occupied this elevated corner lot. The boundaries of the
existing district include Second Presbyterian Church and residences fronting the north side
of West Washington Street from Lafayerte to Davis streets, the south side of West
Washington Street from Guarantee to Perry streets, and the west side of Perry Street from
Washington Street to West Wwvthe Street. The expanded district includes houses fronting
~ Hinton Street from Hazel Street east to 235 Hinton Street, West Washington Street from
Pine to Davis Street, Lafayette Street from West Washington to Commerce Street, and
both Guarantee and Perry streets from West Washington to West Wythe Street.

[n general, the district represents a typical nineteenth-century residential neighborhood
with buildings dating from 1763 to 1928, including a cross section of housing types from
grand manstons to workers’ housing for mostly middle class residents. Architectural styles
within the district include a broad range including Georgian, Federal, Italianate, Queen
Anne, Neo-Classical Revival, and Colonial Revival. The majority of the houses in the
district are of wood-frame construction; the remainder, consisting of brick or other
masonry with a stucco finish, all front West Washington Street, the only major
thoroughfare in the district. The district contains several double houses, both brick and
ame. Unformnately, some buildings are abandoned or are in extreme disrepair and
several have experienced a terminal encounter with the bulldozer, Some of the lots have
seen new construction; four of these newer buildings exist atpresent and unanimously

receive the designation of noncontributing.
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ARCHITECTURAL ANALYSIS

The Folly Castle Historic District had its origins in the late eighteenth century with the
establishment of some rather significant houses on sizable piots of land. The first of
these. Folly Castle, located at 323 West Washington Street, can best be described as a
Georgian house that underwent alteration in the Italianate style in 1874. The gardens
associated with this estate were quite large, extending north to Brick House Run and west
to Lafayerte Street. The wood-frame house, erected in 1763 by Peter Jones V, is two
stories on a raised basement. The five-bay house features a hipped roof with paired
interior end chimneys, beaded siding, and a modillion-block cornice. Originally Georgian
i style. the house has seen the addition of a pair of round-arched windows to the second
tloor. bracketed window linteis, and an Italianate front porch with a projecting center bay,
parred fluted Ionic columns, bracketed cornice, and turned balustrade. The interior is.
largely Ttalianate, with details dating from the 1874 renovation campaign. A fine cast-iron
fence and gate defines the front yard, which was larger before 1855, when the house was
moved a hundred feet south. The property today includes several outbuildings, some of
which have been appended to the house. including a mid-nineteenth-century two-story

brick kitchen.

Another significant late-eighteenth-century house that defines the district on the south
side of West Washington Street is the Donnan House at 26 Perry Street, which was built
around 1810 by Joel Hammond. This two-story wood-frame Georgian house with a raised
basement is associated with the prominent Donnan family. The original front porch.
which was nearly identical to the existing south porch, was enlarged around 1847 when the
house was purchased by John Donnan, and remodeled in the Greek Revival style.
featuring square columns, a denticulated entablature, and a simple balustrade. The first-
floor windows also underwent modification; they were enlarged to floor-length. A
Georgian dog-leg stair with molded rail, balusters, and newel is the most significant
remaining onginal interior feature. Other interior detailing is largely in the Greek Revival
style. The onginal two-story wood-frame kitchen exists today, detached from the main
house, as a separate dwelling. Landscape features inciude a wood picket fence and linden
trees along Perry Street planted by John Donnan from seedlings brought from Germany.
The house remained in the Donnan family until the 1970s.

Strawberry Hill (individually listed on the National Register), located at 235 Hinton
Street. is a handsome, two-story, wood-frame, Federal-style residence with a central
pavilion situated between symmetrical wings to the east and west. The house was built
around 1800; in 1816 the one-story side wings were altered by the addition of a second
floor. The main entrance doorway and interior woodwork are original and exceptional
examples of period craftsmanship. The house was severely altered around the turn of the

century when it was converted into three residences. The wings were extended and the
front entrance was moved one bay to the west. Over the past six years the house has
undergone restoration to recreate its post-1816 symmetry. Originally, to the north and
west of the house existed extensive gardens compiete with granite waiks and a spring.
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The house direculy north of the Donnan House, at 18 Perry Street, once the home and
scnool of Jonathan Smith, is a two-and-a-half-story wood-frame residence constructed
berween 1790 and 1820. Originally located at the southwest corner of Perry and West
Washington streets, it was moved 1o its present site in 1856 by Robert Dunn McIlwaine.
With the relocation of this Federal-style house came the addition of an entrance porch on
the east end. This porch, executed in'the Greek Revival style, includes heavy square
columns and a wide entablature. Another change made at the time of the move included
the addition of a chimney on the north side of the house which eliminated two windows

and displaced two others.

During the first half of the nineteenth century little new construction activity took place in
Ing 10 OCCUr. An important pre-

the district. By the late 1850s, deveiopment was beginning
Civil War house in the district dates from 1858 and is an excellent example of the
[talianate style. Known as the Mcllwaine-Friend House, it was designed by the local
architect B. I. Black. Located at 404 West Washington Street, this two-story brick with
stucco house on a raised basement has an unusual front porch with a double-arched front
opening ornamented with a massive pendant, paneled square columns, a bracketed
cornice, and heavy iron cresting at the roof. The detailing of the house includes paired
segmental- and round-arched windows with elaborate cast-iron hood molds, a heavy
bracketed cornice. and iron balconies at the first-floor front windows. The original kitchen
- building to the south was appended to the main house around 1910 and functions as a rear
wing. A fine cast-iron fence encloses the property; on the porch are two original cast-iron
benches made by the Philadelphia firm ofp Wood and Perrot.

12 Perry Street is a simple, two-story, wood-frame, bouse located on the northwest corner
of Perry and West Wythe (then Lawrence) streets; its earliest (north) section likely dares
from around 1850; probably in the 1860s or 1870s the side-hall-plan house became more
svimmetrical with the addition of the southern section. The house was given [talianate
flavor with a full-length one-story porch and projecting wooden window hoods on the

second-floor windows.

Several houses were constructed by the 1850s, including the following along West

Washington Street: 416, which is similar in construction to 42 Perry; and 523-528, 527, and
ous, make up one of the most cohesive sections of the

531-333. These last three, all conti p
district on the north side of West “?:shm on Street. The deuble house at 523-525is 2
brick Greek Revival house with Easﬂake%talianate double porches. The house at 527 is a

brick Greek Revival/Italianate dwelling with a full-length Greek Revival porch consisting
of fluted Doric columns and a wide entablature. The double house at 531-533, a two-story
wood-frame Italianate dwelling, has some of its originai cast-iron fence and gates
remaining. The house on the corner of West Washington and Lafayette streets is larger
and more unusual than the other Italianate dwellings of the district with its massing and

projecting bays.
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The remainder of the houses along West Washington Street date from the post-Civil War
period and are mostly examples of the Italianate style. These houses contribute to the
cohestve streetscape of uniform scale, materials, and setback. Some of the more stately
homes at the east end of the streer are noted for their fine architectural details and
landscape features, particularly 303, 309, and 315 (designed by Harrison Waite, a local
architect, and said to be the first house in the district ta have electricity). These houses
share common characteristics such as brick construction and patterned tile walks.
Although 303 is Italianate in style like most of the others along West Washington Street,
309 and 315 are examples of the Queen Anne style, typified by asymmetrical massing,
elaborate brickwork, and projecting polygonal bays. The properues at 303 and 309 also
exhibit decorative cast-iron fences similar to the one surrounding Folly Castle. The Queen
Anne stvle is also represented in the district by the house at 618 West Washington Street,
a two-and-a-half-story, wood-frame residence with a clipped gable, oval attic window, and
appiied gable ornamentation. Much of the millwork used on the late-nineteenth-century
houses in this area was produced by local mills; such inexpensive, mass-produced detailing
allowed even middle-class owners of modest houses to keep up with the latest

architectural styles.

The houses along Hinton Street all developed in the latter part of the nineteenth century
as middle-class workers’ homes. These houses, for the most part simple Italianate woog-
frame structures, created a cohesive neighborhood street with common setbacks and two-
story construction. Examples of Colonial Revival-style houses in the Folly Castle Historic
District include 243-245 and 247 Hinton Street; 410, 430, 434, and 507 West Washington;
and 22 Guarantee Street. The house at 410 West Washington Street, built in 1893 on
property that was once part of the gardens of 404, displays especially fine wooden
Adamesque detailing such as Palladian windows, a carved porch entablature, and slender
Doric porch columns. The house at 430 West Washington Street, built around 1910,
demonstrates in brick a more bold Colonial Revival interpretation. Noteworthy are the
heavy modillioned cornices, jack arches with stone keystones, and fluted Ionic porch

columns,

Two of the four non-residential buildings in the district are First Baptist Church and
Second Presbyterian Church. First Baptist Church, located at 235 West Washington
Street, was built in 1928 and exemplifies the Neo-Classical-Revival. It is a large brick
church with a mopumental portico with a full entablature and massive Doric columns.
Second Presbyterian Church (listed individually on the National Register), located at 419
West Washington Street, on the corner of Lafayette and West Washington streets, is a
Gothic Revival structure that dates from 1861. The building's exterior is stucco with
brownstone hood molds and quoins around the front windows and buttresses along the
sides. The education wings were added after 1915, and the central front tower recently has
had the steeple replaced for the second time with a shorter and less prominent version of
the original. The extraordinarily fine Gothic Revival interior featuring a U-shaped
balcony, elaborate plaster ceiling medallion and cast-iron columns, remains intact. The
tower of the church appears in the 1865 photograph showing West Washington Street

looking east from what is now Hazel Street.
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The now-abandoned Petersburg High School is another non-residentiai building in the
district. Located at 512 West Washington Street, this imposing, symmetrical brick Neo-
Classical Revival public building was built in 1917-1918. It occupies the site of the historic
Anderson Academy. At the time it was built, the facility was considered among the most
handsome public high schools in Virginia. It is constructed of yellow brick, with granite

steps, Doric columns, and molded tile around the doors. The front facade features a
projecting semicircular-plan auditorium with two-story engaged pilasters between
ten-over-ten (second story) and fifteen-over-fifteen (gst t%oor) windows. The paneled end
pavilions are windowless on the front, and fearure a denticulated modillion cornice and

stepped parapets. To the year of the building is a large, simple vellow-brick gymnasium
addition.

One other non-residential building is a former store at 111 Lafayette Street. This building,
buiit on a high brick basement n'glglt on the bank of Brick House Run, is a simple two-story

wood-frame structure with a hipped metal roof. Built at the turn of the century, this store
served local residents and workers at the nearby Seward Luggage Company.

There are four noncontributing structures in the district, all modern dwellings built since
1941. Three of them are houses and one is a modular unit moved from behind the
Petersburg High School to serve as a church. The addresses are 315, 318, and 580 Hinton

Street, and 503 Washington Street.

Unfortunately, a few buildings have been lost, including some with impertant historical
associations. Probably the most significant loss has been that of the three-story, five-bay
brick Greek Revival Duniop House, once located at the southeast corner of Hinton and
Davis streets. It was the home of David Dunlop, a prosperous tobacconist. Several
tobacco factories, such as the one at the corner of Guarantee and West Washington streets
(variously known as McEnery and McCulloch, Bovkin Bland & Co., and C.A. Jackson Co.
and visible in the 1865 photo of West Washington Street), provided a livelihood for many
residents of the area, but are now only images in books and on maps. As mentioned
earlier, the Petersburg High School building at 512 West Washington Street now gccupies
the former site of Anderson Academy, an impressive castellated masonry structure in the

Gothic Revival style.

The district retains many of its period landscape features including iron and wood fences,
riled walks, brick walls, granite curbs, and shade trees such as the [indens along Perry
Street.(1) The fence that surrounds the property where the Durlop House once stood is
the most outstanding example of cast-iron fence work in the district. The district is
fortunate 1n retaining several original outbuildings, including storage buildings, kitchens,
and small dwellings. These structures contribute to the sense of historic identity of the
individual properties and the district as a whole, giving a sense of the historic appearance,
functions, and site plans of the residential properties. Some remain as separate structures,
while others have been appended to a main house.
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An important natural feature in the district is the creek known as Brick House Run, which
runs roughly north-south next to the High School and across Washington Street, after
which it turns and runs east-west north of the houses in the four-hundred block of Hinton
Street. The walls of the creek are lined with large pieces of Petersburg granite. On the
north side of Washington Street, between what 1s now 537 and 541-543, once stood a house
that actually spanned the creek; physical evidence of this house may still be seen in the
walls of the creek at this point. The creek was frequently used in the eighteenth century as
a land-ownership boundary; for example. Peter Jones V inherited his father's Petersburg

land south and east of Brick House Run.(2)

The Folly Castle Historic District, with its cross-section of housing types and unified
streetscapes. is a fine example of a nineteenth-century Petersburg neighborhood worth

preserving for future generations.

ENDNOTES

L. The historic appearance of West Washinvg!on Street may be seenin a 1903

photograph in Art Work of Petersburg, Virginia (Chicago: The Gravure
Nlustration Company) which shows the street looking west from the corner of Perry
Street. Many of the shade trees, fences and the streetcar lines running down the

center of the street are now gone, but the buildings themseives remain largely
unaitered from that period.

2 Richard L. Jones, "Appomattox Frontier” (unpublished paper tracing the land
history of the lower Appomattox River Valley), p. 93.
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** In the existing Folly Castle Historic District, listed on the National Register 7/16/80.
28-30 North Davis Street Vacant Lot

114 North Davis Street Vacant Lot

15 Guarantee Street Italianate frame dwelling ca. 1905.

Two Stories, metal hip roof, three bays,
one-over-one windows, interior chimney,
Colonial Revival porch with turmed posts,
rounded projection. Bracketed cornice.

Italianate frame double house ca. 1900.
Two Stories, metal hip roof, six bays,
two-over-two windows, center chimney.
Colonial Revival porch with wood Doric
columns on raised brick bases,

simple balustrade. Bracketed cornice.

19-21 Guarantee Street

Queen Anne/Colonial Revival frame dwelling
ca. 1910. Two stories, metal gable roof.

three bays, one-over-one windows with
decorative muntins, center chimney.

Colonial Revival porch with Doric columns,
denticulated cornice, gable over entrance bay,
turned balustrade. Overhanging eves with
bracketed cornice projecting.

Pedimented gable to south.

- 22 Guarantee Sireet

23-25 Guarantee Street Italianate frame double house ca. 1890.
Two Stories, metal hip roof, six bays,
center chimney, two-over-two windows.
Italianate, one-bay, double porches
with square posts and bracketed cornice.
Bracketed cornice, double doors.

27 Guarantee Street Italianate frame dwelling ca. 1890.
Two Stories, metal hip roof, two bays,
one-over-one windows, interior end chimney.
One-bay Colomnial Revival porch with wood
Doric columns, hip metal roof, denticulated
cornice. Bracketed cornice, polygonal bay,

double doors.

31 Guarantee Street Italianate frame dwelling ca. 1890.
Two Stories, metal hip roof, three bays,
end chimney, two-over-two windows.
Italianate three-bay porch with turned posts
and sawn bracketed unadorned cornice,

double doors.
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33 Guaraniee Street Italianate frame dwelling ca. 1890.
Two Stories, metal hip roof, two bays,

two-over-two-windows, interior end chimney.
One-bay Italianate porch with turned posts,
segmental=arched cornice. Projecung polygonal
two-story bay; bracketed cornice.

33 Guarantee Street Italianate frame dwelling ca. 1890.
Two Stories, metal hip roof, two bays,

two-over-two windows. Three-bay, [talianate
porch with square posts and bracketed cornice;

triangular window hoods.

37 Guaranree Stree: [talianate /Colonial Revival frame dweliling
ca. 1890. Two Stories, metal hip root,
three bays, two-over-two windows, end chimney.
Colonia] Revival porch with Tuscan columns
and turned balustrade. Unadorned cornice.

45 Guarantee Street Vacant lot.

226 Hinton Street Vacant lot.

231-237 Hinton Street Federal-Style frame dwelling ca. 1800.

(Strawberry Hill) Two stories, seven bays, wood shingle hip roof.
End and center chimneys, raised basement,

six-over-six windows, beaded weatherboarding,
modillioned cornice. Entrance with pediment
and engaged pilasters. Projecting central
pavilion. Fine federal interior. NR listed, 1974,

243-245 Hinton Street Colonial Revival frame dwelling ca. 1910.
Two and one half stories, slate hip roof.

six bays, one-over-one windows, corpeied
end chimneys. Colonial Revival porch with
Doric columns, desticulated cornice,
rounded shape. Projecting central gable:
denticujated cornice.

247 Hinton Street Italianate frame dwelling ca. 188S.
Two stories, slate hip roof, four bays,

two-over-two windows, paired end chimneys;
center chimney. Italianate porch with
turned posts, turned balusirade. Projecting
polygonal bay to west; bracketed cornice;
German siding; denticulated window hoods.

Cast-iron fence and gate.

301 Hinton Street Vacant lot.
304 Hinton Street Vacant lot.
Vacant lot.

305 Hinton Street
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306 Hintor Street

209-311 Hinton Street

=10 Hinton Street

314-316 Hinton Stree:

315 Hinton Street
317-319 Hinton Street
218-320 Hinton Street

321-323 Hinton Street

322-324 Hinton Street

401 Hinton Street
403 Hinton Street

404 Hinton Street

Italianate frame dwelling ca. 1890.

Two stories, metal hip roof, three bays.
two-over-two windows, central chimney.
Two-bay porch with L-shaped metal posts
on brick piers. Bracketed cornice.

Italianate frame double house ca. 1885.
Two stories, metal hip roof, six bays,
two-over-two windows, center chimnev.
Porches removed. Bracketed cornice and
window hoods, paneled double doors.
One-story brick outbuilding with metal

hip roof.

Vacant iot.

Italianate frame double house ca. 1885,

Two stories, metal hip roof, four bays,
two-over-two windows, paired interior end
chimneys. Italianate porch with murned posis
and balustrade, sawn brackets and trim.
Projecting polygonal bays at each end;
heavy bracketed cornice.

Post-1941 frame dwelling, noncontributing.

Vacant lot.

Post-1941 frame dwelling, noncontributing.

Italianate frame double house ca. 1880.

Two stories, metal hip roof, six bays, center
chimney, two-over-two window. Italianate porch
with chamfered wood gOStS; paneled bracketed
cornice; metal hip root. Bracketed cornice;
triangular window hoods. Double doors with

elliptical transoms.

Italianate frame double house ca. 1885.

Two stories, metal hip roof, six bays,

paired end chimneys, one-over-one windows.
Six-bay porch with turned posts on raised
wood bases and turned balusters. Cornice

removed.
Vacant lot.
Vacant lot.

[talianate frame dwelling ca. 1885.

Two stories, metal hip roof, three bays,
two-over-two windows, end chimney.
Italianate porch with turned posts.
Bracketed cornice; triangular window hoods.
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Italianate frame double house ca. 1885.
Two stories, metal hip roof, four bays,
aired end chimneys, two-over-two windows.
talianate porch with heavy turned posts,
decorative brackets. Bracketed cornice;
triangular window hoods.

405-407 Hinton Street

106 Hinton Street Vacant lot.

408 Hinton Street Vacant lot.

410 Hinton Street Vacant lot.

111 Hinton Street Italianate frame dwelling ca. 1880.

Two stories, metal hip roof. three bays,
six-over-six windows. One-bay Italianate

porch with square posts. Bracketed cornice.

+12 Hinton Street Italianate frame dwelling ca. 1885.
Two stories, metal hip roof, two bays,
two-over-two windows. One-bay Italianate
Borch with turned posts, sawn brackets,
racketed cornice, triangular window hoods.

+15 Hinton Street Italianate frame dwelling ca. 1885.
Two stories, metal gable roof, three bays,
center chimney, two-over-two windows. rwo-bay
gorch with square posts, hip roof.
racketed cornice.

116 Hinton Street Vacant lot.

417-419 Hinton Street Italianate frame dwelling ca. 1880.
Two stories, slate hip roof, four bays,

central chimneys, six-over-six windows.
Porch with square posts, hip roof.
Bracketed cornice-

418-420 Hinton Street Vacant lot.
512 Hinton Street Vacant lot.
516-518 Hinton Street Vacant lot.
520 Hinton Street Vacant lot.
322-562 Hinton Street Vacant lot.
323-525 Hinton Street Vacant lot.
327-529 Hinton Street Frame double house ca. 1905.

Two stories, metal hip roof, center chimney,
two-over-two windows. Three-bay porch with

square posts.
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$33-325 Hinton Street Italianate frame double house ca. 1905.
Two stories, metal hip roof, four bays,
two-gver-two windows, center chimney.
Two-bay parch with turned posts. Unadorned
cornice.

339 Hinton Street Frame dwelling ca. 1880.

One story, metal hip roof, three bays,
one-over-one windows, center chimneys.

Porch with metal posts.

Colonial Revival frame double house ca. 1900.
Two stories, metal hip roof, four bays,
two-over-two windows. Four-bay Colonial
Revival porch with Doric columns.

>41-5343 Hinton Street

*45-347 Hinton Street Frame double house ca. 1885.
One story, metal hip roof, four bays,
six-gver-six windows, center chimnev.
Four-bay porch with turned posts,
simple bajustrade.

Italianate frame dwelling ca. 1885.

Two stories, slate hip roof, three bavs,
center chimney, two-over-two windows.
Colonial Revival porch with Doric columns.
simple balustrade. Bracketed cornice, door

with eared trim.

Post-1941 brick dwelling, noncontributing.

251 Hinton Streer

380 Hinron Street

Queen Anne/Italianate frame dwelling ca. 1910.
Two stories, metal hip roof, two bays,

center chimney, one-over-one windows.
Italianate porch with turned posts, sawn
brackets, turned balustrade. Projecting

front gable.

Queen Anne/Italianate frame dwelling ca. 1910.
Two stories, metal hip roof, two bays,

center chimney, one-over-one windows,
Italianate porch with turned posts, sawn
brackets, turned balustrade. Projecting

18 Latavette Street

20 Lafayerte Street

front gable.
26 Lafaverte Street Vacant lot.
30 Lafavette Street Italianate frame dwelling ca. 1885.

Two stories, metal hip roof, three bays,
center chimney, two-over-two windows.
Porch with turned posts. Projecting

' polygonal bay on south.
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32 Larayerts Street Vacant jot.

34 Lafayvette Street Vacant lot.

100-112 Lafayerte Street Vacant lot.

111-115 Lafayvertte Street Frame store ca. 1900/1905.

Two stories, metal hip roof, storefront,
center chimney, two-over-two windows

(second floor).

“*18 Perry Street Federal frame dwelling ca. 1790-1820.
(Jonathan Smuth’s School House) Twao and one half stories, metal gable roof,
three bays, exterior end chimneys,
two-over-two windows., Greek Revival porch
with heavy square columns, modillioned cornice
along sides; door with semicircular fantight.

**26 Perry Street Georgian frame dwelling ca. 1810.
(Donnan House) Two stories, metal hip roof, five bays,
six-over-six windows, center chimneys.
Greek Revival five-bay porch with
chamfered square columns, denticulated
cornice. Modillioned cornice. Original
Georgian and Greek Revival interior.
Two-story frame outbuilding with three-bay
porch. Frame storage building. Wood

picket fence.

**36-38 Perry Street Italianate frame double house ca. 1910.
Two stories, asphalt shingle hip roof,
four bays, center chimneys, two-over-two
windows. Italianate porch with turned

osts, sawn fretwork and brackets.

racketed cormnice.

**42 Perry Street Italianate frame dwelling ca. 1860.
Two stories, metal hip roof, six bays,
end chimneys (one exterior, one interior),
six-over-six windows. Italianate porch
with chamfered sguare posts on raised bases.

Brackets removed in cornice.
235 West Washington Street Neo-Classical Revival Church ca. 1928,
(First Baptist Church) One story, asphalt shingle gable roof,

three front bays, six side bays.
Monumental portico with fluted stone Doric
columns, full wood entablature with trigiyphs.
Modillioned pediment. Stone door and window

surrounds.
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[talianate brick dwelling ca. 1870.
Two stories, slate hip roof, three bays,
one-over-one windows. Three-bay,
[talianate porch with paired chamfered wood
osts and heavy balustrade, bracketed cornice,
e iron cresting. Bracketed cornice,
flat window lintis. Two-story brick kitchen with
metal roof. Patterned tile waik;
simple iron fence and gate.

**203 West Washington Street

Queen Anne brick dwelling ca. 1890.

Two stories, slate hip roof, two bays,

interior end chimney, one-over-one windows.
Queen Anne porch with paneled brick columns;
ellipticai-arched opening, iron stair railing.
Polygonal bay on second floor; belt courses

of vertical bricks turned diagonally.

Patterned tile waik; simple iron fence.

Queen Anne brick dwelling 1896.
Two and one half stories, slate hip roof,
four bays, center chimney, one-over-one
windows. Eastlake porch with turned
osts, spindle frieze, turned balustrade.
olygonal two-story bay on west side of front.
Tiled front walk. Designed by Harrison Waite.
Queen Anne interior including
grained woodwork.

**309 West Washingron Street

**315 West Washington Street

“*323 West Washington Streer Georgian/Italianate frame dwelling ca. 1763.
 Folly Castle) Two stories, slate hip roof, five bays,

paired interior end chimneys, six-over-six
windows. Italianate three-bay porch with
fluted Ionic columns, bracketed cormice,
turned balustrade, projecting center bay.
Paired round-arched windows on second floor
center; bracketed window hoods; modillioned
cornice. Interior largely Italianate.
Fine iron fence and gate.

Italianate brick dwelling ca. 1858.

Two stories, metal hip roof, three bays,
interior end chimneys, six-over-six windows.
One-bay Italianate porch with paneled square
columns, bracketed cornice, heavy iron cresting,
double-arched front opening with pendant.
Paired segmentaland round-arched windows
with elaborate cast-iron hood moids; heavy
bracketed cornice; iron balconies at first-
floor windows. Designed by B.J. Black.
Wood picket fence.

**404 West Washingion Stree:
(Mcllwaine - Friend House)



National Park Service
Nationai Register of Historic Places
Continuation Sheet

Folly Castie Historic District Expansion. City of Petersburg, VA

Section number __7 Page _16

Coloniai Revival frame dwelling ca. 1893,

Two and one half stories, slate hip roof,

two bays, interior end chimneys, tripartite
windows. One-bay Colonial Revival porch

with slender Doric columns, carved Adamesque
entablature. Palladian window first floor left;
doorway in Palladian configuration; bracketed
carnice; bellcast gable dormers..

**410 West Washingron Street

**116 West Washington Street Italianate frame dweiling ca. 1860,
Two stories, metal hip roof, five bays,

interior end chimneys, six-over-six windows,
One-bay Italianate porch with paired
chamfered square posts on raised bases;
bracketed cornice. Triangular window

hoods on first floor.
**416 Rear West Washington Street Two-story brick outbuilding.
“*419 West Washington Street Gothic Revival church 1861.
(Second Presbyterian Chureh) One story, asphalit shingle gable roof,

three front bays, eight side bays.
Pointed-arched windows; central front tower

and steeple; brownstone hood moids and quoins
around front windows; buttresses along sides.
Original interior featuring U-shaped balcony

and cast-iron columns. Individually listed on NR.

“*422-424 West Washington Street Italianate brick double house ca. 1855.
Two stories, slate hip roof, six bays,
center chimney, six-over-six windows.
Italianate double porches with chamfered
square posts, bracketed cornice. Segmentaily
arched and round-arched windows with
cast-iron hood molds and sills. Paneled

bracketed wood cornice.

**430 West Washington Street Colonial Revival brick dwelling ca. 1910.
Two and one half stories, metal hip roof,
three bays, corbeled paired interior end
chimneys, six-over-one windows. One-bay
Colonial Revival porch with modillioned
pediment and cornice, paired fluted Ionic
columns, turned balustrade. Modillioned
cornice; jack arches with keystones over
windows; door with eiliptical fanlight and
sidelights; broken-gable dormers.

431 West Washington Street Italianate brick dwelling ca. 1880.
Twao stories, siate hip roof, two bays,
one-over-one windows, Porch removed.
Projecting two-story wood bay on west
side of front, heavy bracketed cornice;
window hoods. Two-story brick outbuilding

with shed roof and parapet.
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515 West Washingron Streer

519-521 West Washington Street

519-321 West Washington Streer
523-525 West Washington Streer

527 West Washingron Street

31-533 West Washington Street

itn

537 West Washington Street

539 West Washingron Street
541-543 West Washington Street

601 West Washington Street

Italianate frame dwelling ca. 1900.

Two stories, metral hip roof, three bays,

center chimney, two-over-two windows.
[talianate porch with mrned posts, spindle
frieze, sawn brackets. Bracketed cornice;
double door. Brick rear section predates front.

Italianate brick double house ca. 1900.
Two stories, shed roof, six bays. Six-bay
Italianate porch with chamfered square posts on
raised bases. Bracketed cornice; decorative -

stone window hoods.

Vacant [ot.

Greek Revival brick double house ca. 1850.
Two stories, metal gable roof, four bays,
center chimpey, two-over-two windows.
Itaiianate double porches. 523: turned posts;
525: wirned posts, hip roof, simple raii.
Narrow box cornice; flat wood window lintels.

Greek Revival/Italianate brick dweiling
ca. 1860. Two stories, metal gable roof,
three bays, interior end chimneys,
one-over-one windows, Three-bay Greek
Revival porch with fluted Doric columns,
wide entablature. Modillioned cornice;
cast-iron brackered window hoods.

Italianate frame dweiling ca. 1860.
Two stories, metal hip roof, six bays,
center chimney, one-over-one windows.
Two-tayltalianate double porches with turned
osts, brackets, turned balustrade.
racketed cornice. Raised basement.

Cast-iron fence and gates.

Frame dweiling ca. 1905.
Two stories, metal hip roof, three bays,
two-over-two windows. One-bay porch with

square posts.
Vacant lot.

Frame dwelling ca. 1850.

Two stories, metal gable roof, four bays,
one center chimney , interior end chimney
on west, six-over-six windows. _
Colonial Revival double porches with Doric
columns, Originally si.ng.l% dwelling.

Italianate frame dwelling ca. 1890.

Two stories, metal hip roof, three bays,
two-over-two windows. Three-bay porch with
turned posts, hip roof. Cornice wiih paired
brackets: triangular window lintels.
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**434 West Washington Street Colonial Revival brick dwelling ca. 1916.

Two and one halif stories, metal hip roof.

four bays, interior end chimney, one-over-one
windows. Three-bay Colonial Revival porch
with Doric columns, wide entablature, wood
railing on top deck. Stone jack-arched windows
(second floor); door with elliptical fanlight

and sidelights, gable dormer.

435 West Washington Street Italianate frame dwelling ca. 1880.
Two staries, metal hip roof, three bays,
two-over-two windows, interior end chimney;
center chimney. Three-bay porch with turned
osts. Bracketed cormice, triangular window

oods.

**436-438 West Washingron Streer Italianate brick double house ca. 1905.
Two stories, shed roof, six bays, one-over-one

windows. Two-bay porch with paired square
posts; simple balustrade. Cast-iron cornice;
stone window linteis with keystones on second

floor.

439 West Washington Street Vacant lot.

503 West Washington Street Post-1941 modular unit. Noncontributing.
Colonial Revival brick dwelling ca. 1920.
Two and one half stories, slate hip roof,

two bays, interior end chimney, one-gver-one
windows. Colonial Revival three-bay porch
with Doric columns, wide entablature. Door
with elliptical fanlight and sidelights.

507 West Washingion Street

309-311 West Washington Street Italianate brick double house ca. 1870.
Two stories, asphalt shingle gable roof,
six bays, center chimney, one-over-one
windows. One-bay Italianate double porches
with round-archedv openings, square posts,
corner brackets. Heavy arched wood cornice
with brackets. Round-arched (first floor)
and segmental second-floor windows with

wooden hoods.
512 West Washington Street Neo-Classical Revival yellow brick school
(Petersburg High School) building, 1917-1918. Two stories. Neoclassical
indented double porches with Doric columns.

Center semicir auditorium space with
two-story engaged pilasters. Windowless
paneled end pavilions with stepped parapets
and modillioned cormice. Rear two-story

~ gymnasium addition.
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602 West Washingrton Street Vacant lot.

005 West Washington Street Italianate/vernacular frame dwelling ca. 1890,
Two stories, asphalt shingle hip roof, twa bays,
windows replaced. One-bay porch,
details replaced. Cornice with paired brackets.

606-608 West Washington Street Italianate frame double house ca. 1890.
Twa stories, metal hip roof, four bays,

center chimneys, two-0Over-two windows.
Four-bay Italianate porch with turned posts.
Bracketed cornice; paired windows in end bays.

n07 West Washington Street Italianate frame dweiling ca. 1890.
Two stories, asphalt shingie hip roof, three bays,

two-over-two windows. One-bay porch,
details replaced. Triangular window lintels.

610-612 West Washington Street Italianate frame double house ca. 1890.
Two stories, metal hip roof, six bays, center

chimney, two-over-two windows. One-bay
double porches. 610: details replaced;
612: square posts, spindle frieze, hip roof.
Brackets in cornice removed.

611 West Washington Street Italianate frame double house ca. 1890.
Two stories, metal hip roof, three bays,
two-over-two windows. One-bay porch with
turned posts. Cornice with paired brackets;

triangular window lintels.

014-616 West Washington Street Vacant lot.

518 West Washington Street Queen Anne frame dwelling ca. 1890.
Two and one half stories, asphalt shingie gable

roof, three bays, corbeled end chimney,
one-over-one windows. Seven-bay wraparound
Queen Anne porch with turned posts and
curved shape. Projecting gable on west;
millwork in gable.

415-419 West Wythe Street Vacant lot.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE
2per-midtile-class

The Folly Castle District as expanded represents a middie- to up

Petersburg residential neighborhood from the period 1763 to 1928. The area, centered on
West Washington Street, 1s significant in local architecture for its cross-section of middle-
class housinfg types. such as single-family residences and workers’ double houses, and for
its variery of architectural styles ranging from the Georgian to the Neo-Classical Revival.
The district is also significant in local military history for the various roles several of its
buildings served because of the Civil War; the Mcllwaine-Friend House, for instance, was
used as headquarters by Confederate Major General George E. Pickert from 1863 to 1864.
The district was aiso liked with the development of industry and commerce in antebellum
Petersburg and its rebirth after the Civil War. Although none of the area's industrial
buildings have survived to the present, they influenced the development patterns of the

ared.

HISTORICAL BACKGROUND

The earliest feature of the Folly Castle Historic District is West Washington Street itselif,
which began as a road connecnng the commercial center of burgeoning Petersburg with
the rural areas to the west, The earliest house in the district is Folly Castle, built in 1763
by Peter Jones V, a descendant of the trader Peter Jones for whom Petersburg is named.
The house’s name is derived from its being a large house for the time (a "castle”), and built
by an unmarried, childless man (a "folly”). The house originally stood approximately a
fundred feet to the rear (north) of its current location; it was moved in 1855 to align 1t
with its neighbors, all buiit lorﬁ after Folly Castle. (1) Another early house is at 26 Perry
Street, known as the Donnan House, dating from around 1810 and was built by Joel
Hammond on land that had been owned by Peter Jones' niece and heir Jane Newsum and
her busband Erasmus Gill. Strawberry Hill, on Hinton Street (then Friend Street), is an
especially fine example of the Federal style built around 1800 probably by William Haxail,
a prosperous flour miller who later moved to Richmond; it was owned subsequently by a
succession of prominent Petersburg families. At the corner of West Washington and Perry
streets was a smaller, less elaborate Federal-style house built between 1790 and 1820. In
the early nineteenth century it was the home and school of Jonathan Smith. The house
was moved in 1858 to its current location at 18 Perry Street, straight back from Washing-
ton Street so that its original front elevation became its north side.

The original owner of the land in this section of Petersburg was the Jones famili,'. The
vear before he built Folly Castle, Peter Jones V laid off twenty-eight acres into lots and
streets (of which no plat remains); this land, cailed New Town, was incorporated into the
town limits at the same time. (2) Jones had inherited in 1758 a large portion of what is
now central Petersburg and upon his death in 1779 he left his Petersburg gyroperty
inciuding Folly Castle to his niece, Sarah Newsum, who in 1786 married Erasmus Gill.
The Gills shortly thereafter subdivided their very extensive land holdings into lots. The
first houses in the area, therefore, were built at this time.
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The period from 1820 to 1860 was, for Petersburg, a time of great prosperity and growth,
and the development of the Foily Castle Historic District reflected this. The
manutacturing base of Petersburg’s economy developed in tandem with a boomin
commerce, both of which were tied integrally to the growth of the railroads in this period.
The city was the market and manufacturing center for most of the tobacco and cotton
crops, as well as the iron ore produced in the southside Virginia and northern North
Carolina area. On the eve of the Civil War, Petersburg was an important manufacturing,
commercial. and transportation center, a very rare combination in the antebellum South.
By 1860, Petersburg was the seventh largest city in the South, the second largest in
Virginia. and trailed only Richmond in the value of its manufactured goods. (3)

The area west of Market Street and south of High Street had several important
manutacturing concerns sprinkled through it. The district was charactenized by, on the one
hand, large factories and warehouses, sometimes occupying whoie city blocks. and on the
other. pleasant residential neighborhoods. It was not uncommon for a factory owner to
make his home within a few blocks of his plant, or even within the yard of the factory.
Many of the factories in the area were tobacco factories, which, because they did not
depend upon water power, could be located anywhere within a reasonable distance of

transportation. (4)

The prosperity of antebellum Petersburg encouraged the growth of the Folly Castle area
. although most of the residential development did not occur until close to 1860. At this
time several important houses were bu.i.?t in the district, the most notable of which is 404

West Washington Street, the Mcllwaine-Friend House, built in 1858. (It was at this time,
in order to build this house, that the house which is now at 18 Perry Street was moved to
the south from the corner.) This high-stvie Italianate house was built by Roberr Dunn
Mcliwaine, who was in business with his illustrious father A. G. McIlwaine; the designer
was B. J. Black. 3 local architect. (5) R.D. Mc[lWaine's daughter Hibernia married John
Wesley Friend, of the prominent family of that name, and inberited the house. Their son
Robert Mcllwaine Friend was the father of the present owner. The grandeur of the house
indicates at once the prosperity of the McIlwaine family and the fashionability of this area.

The Second Presbyterian Church on West Washington Street was also built in this period,
and was finished in 1862. The design of the Gothic Revival church is astributed to

Theodorick Pryor, pastor of the church at the time.

In 1847 John Donnan, of the cotton brokerage firm Donnan and Johnson, purchased 26
Perry Street. Donnan'’s prosperity is indicated by the renovations made to the house at
this time, including the extension of the front porch and the lengthening of the windows in

a Greek Revival manner.

The house at 422-424 West Washington Street is an unusually fine example of an
Italianate double house. It was built around 1855 by Peter McEnery, one of the owners of
McEnery and McCulloch Tobacco Company, probably as a speculative venture, since
McEnery’s own house was on Hinton Street.
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The house at 541-543 West Washington Street, although a very simple house stylistically, is
historically important as it figures prominently in an April, 1865 photograph of 2 Union
wagon train heading west on Washington Street. (6) The house was built in the 1850s and
appears trom the photograph to have been a single-family house with a center front porch;
it is now a double house with two end porches. Also visible in the photo is the tower of
Second Presbyterian Church, the spire of the First Baptist Church which the present
building replaced, and 527 West Washington Street, a brick Greek Revival house next to
number 541-343. The streetscape has in fact changed remarkably little from that same
view, although the tobacco factory visible on the south side of West Washington Street is
now the site of several late-nineteenth-century houses.

The Civil War brought immense changes to this area, as well as to Petersburg as a whole.
Many Petersburg families refugeed to the surrounding counties; one of those that did was
the Robert Mcllwaines, whose house (404 West Washington) was used as headquarters by
Contederate Major General George E. Pickett in 1863-1864, while he was commander of
the Deparument of Virginia and North Carolina(7) Subsequently, the house was lived in
by Sarah Pryor (Mrs. Roger Pryor), whose book Remembrances of War and Peace
describes her experiences as a refugee in Petersburg during the war.(8) During the ten-
month period that Petersburg was under siege, the basement of the Donnan House was
one of several bomb shelters created in the area for those who had not fled. The church
vard of Second Presbyterian Church was used as a temporary Confederate burying ground,
as Blandford Cemetery was too near the shelling. The tobacco factories in the area were
commandeered for use as Confederate hospitals, since they were large and airy.

After the war, although the rebuilding of Petersburg’s industrial and commercial
enterprises was begun immediately, the city never recovered its former glory.
Nevertheless, the post-war period was a time of real growth and development in the Folly
Castle area. By far the majority of the buildings in the district date from this period.
Most of the houses built between 1865 and 1900 were less grand and stood on smaller
plats of land than the few that had been buiit previously. On the fringes of the area were
built lower-rniddle-class houses, including several double houses. West Washington
Street was the prime address in the area; it was along this busy street that the bank
presidents, factory owners, commission merchants, and lawyers lived.(9) Hinton Street,
which extended the one-block-lon% Friend Street, had been laid out in lots between 1867
and 1877 (Beers Map), but most of its development did not occur until the dperiod 1880-
1910. Guarantee Street was built up in the period 1890-1910, after the land on its east
side, much af which had been part of the property of the Donnan House, was sold off; the
street’s inhabitants bad such middle-class occupations as teacher, machinist, traveling

salesman, and carpenter.

Several late-nineteenth-century buildings in the district are especially significant. The

house at 308 West Washington, dating from around 1870, was the home in the 1870s of
ocer John O'Connor buiit

Drury A. Hinton, Commonweaith's Attorney. The successful %r (
the house at 315 West Washington in 1897. It was designed by local architect Harrison-
Waite, whose other work included several of the mansions on South Market Street (now

lost) and many important public and commercial buildings such as the Odd Fellows Build-
ing on North Sycamore Street. This house, built on land bought from the Hinton estate,
retains its Queen Anne/Eastlake interior detailing, including the original grained
woodwork. It is reputed to have been the first house in Petersburg built with electric
lighting, and the fixtures (with gas piping as a backup) also remain in the house.
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In 1892, Robert Dunn Mcllwaine deeded a portion of the gardens to the west of the
Mcllwaine-Friend House to his son of the same name. The younger Mcllwaine, a doctor,
T'Ke house is one of the best

built 410 West Washington Street as bis home and office.
examples of the Colonial Revival style in Petersburg.

The largest building in the district, the Petersburg High Schoot, was built 1917-18 on the
site of the historic Anderson Academy (founded In 1821) on West Washington Street. The
imposing classically-inspired structure exemplified the latest in educational design,
accommodating nine hundred students and a variety of classrooms, laboratories,
recreational facilities, and offices deemed necessary at the time. (10)

In 1928 the First Baptist Church, another Neo-Classical Revival building, was built on
West Washingron Street. This church stands near the site of two earlier churches that
served this congregation. It was in fact built next to the existing building, which was
demolished after the new church was constructed.

The arrival in the late 1880s of the streetcar (one line of which ran down Washingron
Street) brought great changes to the city of Petersburg. It opened lands on the very edges
of the city to development as streetcar suburbs. As a result, the upper and middle classes,
which had resided in the center of the city, moved to the new suburbs, while the lower
classes, which had lived on the fringes of the urban area, moved toward the center. (12)
The trend toward suburbanization, which most profoundly affected the Folly Castle area
beginning in the years following World War II, together with the economic decline of
Petersburg which began after the Civil War and escalated after the depression of the
1890s, meant that most center-city neighborhoods saw the hait of development in the early

twentieth century.

The major change in the character of Petersburg has been widespread demolition since
the 1960s. The Folly Castle Historic District has suffered relatively few residential losses
or intrusions since the 1920s. Probably the most significant residential loss to the district
was the demolition of the Duniop House, owned by prominent tobacconist David Dunlop
and used during the Civil War as the headquarters of General Sheridan. Another
important change has been the removal of all of the industrial buildings that once helped
degne this district. Some of the lots thus emptied were subsequently built l}gon (the
houses at 430, 434, 436-8 West Washington were built on the site of the McEnery &
McCulloch tobacco factory), while others have remained open land (such as the south side
of the entire 500 block of Hinton Street, once the site of the J.P. Williamson Tobacco
Stemmery in the late nineteenth century, then the lumber yard for Seward Trunk & Bag
Co.).(12) The district today demonstrates a typical, but nonetheless significant, middle-
class Petersburg neighborhood that illustrates the growth and change of the community in
the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries.
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Edward A Wyatt, IV, Along Petersburg Streets (Richmond, VA: The Dietz
Printing Co., 1943), p. 39.

Jones, Richard L. "Appomattox Frontier” (un\?ublished aper describing the early
land history of the lower Appomattox River Valley, n.d.), p. 104.

Larry Hartzell, "Glory Days: Petersburg In the Antebellum Era’ (lecture delivered
at the Spring 1990 Petersburg Symposium), p. 1.

James H. Scott and Edward A. Wvatt, IV, Petersburg’s Story; A History
(Richmond, VA: Whittet & Shepperson, 1960), p. 78.

This information came from an interview with Mrs. Bessie Meade Drake, the
fourth generation to inhabit the house. Mrs. Drake was told by local historian
Edward Wyatt that B. J. Black was the architect.

William A. Frassanito, Grant and Lee; The Virginia Campaigns 1864-1865, p. 385.

Edward A. Pollard, Lee and His Lieutenants (New York: E. B. Treat and
Company, 1867), p. 33.

Mrs. Pryor’s book is especially helpful as it describes not only the privations and
struggles of Petersburg civilians during the Civil War, but also the actual
appearance of the town and her nearby neighbors:
My next-door neighbors were Mr, Thomas Branch and the
Rev. Churchill Gibson. From one of my windows I could look
into a large garden, where the workmen were busy planting
seeds.... Across the street lived the widow of the Hon. Richard
Kidder Meade, with her accomplished daughters, Maﬁ,
Marion, and Julia. Lower down lived the Bollings.... Then Mr.
and Mrs. William Bannister, with another houseful of lovely
young women.... (page 258).

City Directories were consulted to determine the occupations of the residents of the
area. Years consulted include 1860, 1877, 1887, 1894, 1901, 1915, and 1923.

“The Missile” (Petersburg High School Yearbook), 1919, pp. 8-12.

William D. Henderson, Gilded Age City: Politics, Life and Labor in
Virginia, 1874-1889 (Lanham, MD: University Press of America, 1980), p. 297.

Several of the photographs in the 1903 monograph Arnt Work of .
Virginja (Chicago: The Gravure Nustration omgany) show the early-twentieth-
century appearance of West Washington Street. Particularly noteworthy were the
large shade trees and the ubiquitous cast-iron fences. Modera conveniences visible
in the 1903 photographs include the streetcar line down the center of the street, and

the electrical lines and poles lining the sidewalks.
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Beers Map, 1877,

Boyd, Robin. "Gone But Not Forg{grten. Petersburg’s Lost Landmarks”.
Petersburg Department of Tourism, 1981.

City Directories: 1860-1923.

Clairborne, John Herbert. Seventy-Five Years ip Old Virginia. New York:
The Neale Publishing Co., 1904.

The Cockade City: The City of Petersburg, Virginia. Petersburg, VA:
George W. Engelhardt., 1894,

Frassanito, William A. Grant and Lee: The Virginia Campaigns, 1864-1865.
NY: Charles Scribner’s Sons, 1983.

Hale, Thomas F, and James H. Bailey, Old Petersburg. Richmond, VA:
Hale Publishing, 1976.

Hartzell, Larry. "Glory Days: Petersburg in the Antebellum Era". Lecture
delivered at the Petersburg Symposium, Spring 1990.

Henderson, William D. Gilded Age City: Politics, Life and Labor in Petersburg,
Virginia, 1894-1889. Lanham, MD: University Press of America, 1980.

Henderson, William D. The Unredeemed City; Reconstructiop in Petersburg,
Virginia, 1865-1874. Washington, DC:: University Press of America, 1977.

Jones, Richard L. "Appomattox Frontier”. Unpublished paper, no date.

Mickler Map (1867).
Pollard, Edward A. Lee and His Lieutenants. New York: E.B. Treat & Co., 1897.

Pryor, Sarah (Mrs. Roger A.) _&ng_e; of Peace and War. New York:
The Macm.tllan Co,,

Sanborn Maps: 1888, 1891, 1897, 1903, 1908, 1915.

Scott, James G. and Edward A. Wyatt, IV. Petersburg’s Story: A History.
Richmond, VA: Whittet and Shepperson, 1960.

Wyatt, Edward A., IV. Along Petersburg Streets. Richmond, VA: The Dietz
Printing Co., 1943,

"Ye Qlden Tvmes™ History mmxxma- Petersburg, VA:
Frank A. Owen, 1906.
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UTM References, Continued
E: 18/286360/4122540
F: 18/286210/4122520
G: 18/286250/4122260
H: 18/286120/412233
I: 18/286080/4122400
J: 18/286060/4122400
K: 18/280060/4122360
L: 18/285980/4122340
M: 18/285920/4122420
N: 18/285840/4122400
O: 18/285820/4122440
P: 18/285850/4122440
Q: 18/285840/4122490

R: 18/285900/4122500
S: 18/285880/4122570
T: 18/285500/4122580

U: 18/285890/4122620
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VERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION

Beginning at a point delineated by UTM reference A 18/286260/4122780, proceed southeast
some 100 feet to a point delineated by UTM reference B 18/286300/4122770, thence south some
150 feet to a point delineated by UTM reference C 18/286300/4122720, thence east some 50 feet
to a point delineated by UTM reference D 18/286320/4122720, thence south some S60 feet to
a point delineated by UTM reference E 18/286360/4122540 on the south side of Washington
Street, thence west some 460 feet along the south side of Washington Street to the southeast
corner of the intersection of Washington and Perry streets at a point delineated by UTM
reference F 18/286210/4122520, thence south some 510 feet along the east side of Perry Street
to the northeast corner of the intersection of Perry and Wythe streets at a point delineated by
UTM reference G 18/286250/4122360, thence west some 460 feet along the north side of Wythe
Street to the northwest corner of the intersection of Wythe and Guarantee streets at a point
delineated by UTM reference H 18/286120/4122330, thence north some 250 feet along the west
side of Guarantee street to a point delineated by UTM reference I 18/286080/4122400, thence
west some 180 feet to a point delineated by UTM reference J 18/286060/4122400, thence south
some 70 feet to a point delineated by UTM reference K 18/286060/4122360, thence west some
270 feet to a point delineated by UTM reference L 18/285980/4122340, thence northwest some
230 feet to a point delineated by UTM reference M 18/285920/4122420, thence west some 320
feet to a point on the east side of Pine Street delineated by UTM reference N
18/285840/4122400, thence north some 190 feet to a point delineated by UTM reference O
18/285820/4122440 on the north side of Washington Street opposite the southeast corner of the
intersection of Pine and Washington streets, thence east along the north side of Washington Street
some 100 feet to a point delineated by UTM reference P 18/285850/4122440, thence north some
130 feet to a point delineated by UTM reference Q 18/285840/4122490, thence east some 160
feet to a point delineated by UTM reference R 18/285900/4 122500, thence north some 200 feet
to a point delineated by UTM reference S 18/285880/4122570, thence east some 50 feet to a
point delineated by UTM reference T 18/285900/4122580, thence north some 140 feet to a point
delineated by UTM reference U 18/285890/4122620, thence east some 1400 feet to the point of

beginning.
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BOUNDARY JUSTIFICATION

The boundaries of the Folly Castle Historic District have been expanded to include the
contiguous neighborhood which is consistent with the character of the exisung district.
Boundaries generally follow property lines, and exclude modern commercial buildings
(east side of Perry Street), vacant land (east of First Bapust-Church and Strawberry Hill),
and modern institutional buildings (south, east and west of the High Schooi). The
northern boundary follows the property lines to the rear of the houses on Hinton Street,
behind which the {and slopes down 10 a creek bottom. West of 611 West Washington
Street is a parking lot. The houses on the west side of Hazei Street are of modern

constructon, and so were not inciuded.
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